IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ISSAQUENA WARREN COUNTIES FILED

APPELLANTS

APPELLEE

JUL - 7 2008

VS.

۰

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ON INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. WHETHER THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED IN GRANTING WARREN COUNTY'S MOTION TO TRANSFER THE PRESENT ACTION TO CIRCUIT COURT.

1

۸.

17

1

1.

Ì

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellants initiated the present action when they filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief in the Chancery Court of Warren County, Mississippi on May 25, 2007. (Rec. 4-13)¹ In the Complaint, the Appellants sought an order from the Court declaring that the Appellee, Warren County, Mississippi, was barred from taking any further enforcement action against them for alleged violations of the Warren County Subdivision and Floodplain Management Ordinances and an injunction prohibiting the same. (Rec. 4-13) On May 31, 2007 Warren County filed an action against Issaquena and Warren Counties Land Co., LLC ("IWCLC"), an appellant herein, alleging violations of the Warren County Subdivision and Floodplain Management Ordinances, stating that Warren County had no adequate remedy at law absent a mandatory injunction requiring compliance and alleging that Warren County had been damaged as a result of IWCLC's alleged failure to comply with said ordinances. (Rec. 88-91)

On June 27, 2007, Warren County filed its Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative to Transfer to Circuit Court. (Rec. 36-40) A hearing was held on September 5, 2007 and the Chancery Court entered an Order Granting the motion in the alternative and transferring the matter to Circuit Court on October 25, 2007. (Rec. 116) This Court granted the Appellants' Petition for Interlocutory Appeal in an Order dated January 7, 2008. (Rec. 117)

¹ For the purposes of this brief, citations to the record on appeal are abbreviated as follows: "Rec." indicates a citation to the clerk's papers by page number; "Rec. Ex. Tab" indicates a citation to the Mandatory and Appellant's Record Excerpts by tab and, where applicable, page number; "TR" indicates a citation to the transcript of the hearing held on September 5, 2007. The transcript of the September 5, 2007 hearing is included in Appellant's Record Excerpts under Tab 3 for the Court's convenience.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2002, Appellant Issaguena and Warren Counties, Land Co., LLC and its individual members, all appellants herein (hereinafter referenced collectively as "Issaquena and Warren"), purchased approximately 1,200 acres of property from the Anderson Tully Timber Company. This property was purchased so that the members of Issaguena and Warren and their families could hunt and fish on their property. The individual members were also allotted a designated place to build camp homes. Shortly after purchasing the property, Issaquena and Warren was named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed by Paw Paw Island Land Company ("Paw Paw"), the owner of an island located in Madison Parish, Louisiana, in the Chancery Court of Warren County, Mississippi. In that case, Paw Paw seeks a prescriptive easement over a gated roadway running through the property and the right to park and launch boats from the Issaquena and Warren property in order to reach the island. In July of 2005, Warren County became involved in the aforementioned dispute when it issued a letter, at the request of Paw Paw, to Issaquena and Warren and its individual members to remove gates from the disputed road. As a result of this involvement, Issaquena and Warren filed an action against the County in the Chancery Court of Warren County seeking declaratory and injunctive relief with regard to the disputed road. This matter was consolidated with the original action filed by Paw Paw and is still pending before the Chancery Court of Warren County, Mississippi, Cause No. 2005-247 GN² (hereinafter "Original Chancery Court Action"). (Rec. 24-25)

Warren County first alleged that Issaquena and Warren violated the Warren Subdivision Ordinance ("Subdivision Ordinance") on March 1, 2006 in the Original Chancery Court Action in its expert witness designations and discovery responses. Although the Court was willing to

² All pleadings in the consolidated actions are now filed under original cause number 2003-179 GN.

allow Warren County to present proof on this issue, Warren County elected not to present any evidence on this issue. (Rec. 25)

On September 25, 2006, Warren County filed an action in the Circuit Court of Warren County against Issaquena and Warren Counties Land Co., LLC and its individual members Rose C. and Kenneth D. Blakeney alleging violations of the Subdivision Ordinance and the Warren County Floodplain Management Ordinance ("Floodplain Ordinance"). (Rec. 98-103) In that Complaint, Warren County alleged violations of the Subdivision and Floodplain Management Ordinance, sought an injunction to force Issaquena and Warren to submit to entry onto the property to investigate these violations and sought an award of "all damages, costs, and fees . . ." incurred as a result. (Rec. 100) Warren County did not elect to seek actual enforcement of the Subdivision and Floodplain Ordinances in this proceeding as it had already elected to pursue criminal charges against Issaquena and Warren instead. (Rec. 53-82)

The injunction was granted but the trial court denied Warren County's claim for damages. (Rec. 104-106). The injunction was dissolved on appeal to the Mississippi Court of Appeals and the denial of damages was not raised by Warren County on cross-appeal. *See, Blakeney v. Warren County*, 973 So. 2d 1037 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

On June 3, 2006 and December 19, 2006, Warren County filed 23 criminal summons in the County Court of Warren County, Mississippi against Petitioners alleging violations of the Subdivision Ordinance and/or Floodplain Ordinance. (Rec. 53-82) Those charges related to alleged violations of the Floodplain Management Ordinance have been held in abeyance since April 2, 2007 for lack of evidence. (Rec. 83-85) All charges relative to alleged violations of the Subdivision Ordinance have now been dismissed with prejudice. (Rec. 86-87)

On May 8, 2007, the County Court issued an Order granting a Motion to Dismiss filed by the Petitioners with regard to those charges filed on December 19, 2006 for alleged violations of the Subdivision Ordinance by the individual members of IWCLC. (Rec. 86) Just prior to an omnibus hearing on May 17, 2006 regarding Issaquena and Warren's Motion to Dismiss the charge filed on June 3, 2006, Warren County announced its intention to dismiss this remaining criminal charge for alleged violations of the Subdivision Ordinance set for trial on May 21, 2007. Warren County stated that it would, instead, file a civil action in *Chancery Court* seeking declaratory and injunctive relief to enforce compliance with the Subdivision Ordinance. Specifically, Warren County stated that numerous legal issues raised in the aforementioned motion to dismiss should be determined by the Chancery Court as opposed to the County Court before which the criminal charges were pending. Rather than allow Warren County to dismiss the charge in a manner that would allow a later re-filing of the charge, the County Court required Warren County to dismiss the charge with prejudice. (Rec. 87)

In anticipation of the promised action (to be filed in the Chancery Court), on May 25, 2007, the Petitioners filed the instant action for declaratory and injunctive relief setting forth the relevant facts and seeking *declaratory and injunctive relief* regarding Warren County's ability to bring multiple actions against them for violations already alleged in other actions, and alternatively, seeking a declaration that they had not violated the Subdivision and/or Floodplain Ordinances and summons issued immediately thereafter. (Rec. 4-15) Six days later, on May 31, 2007, Warren County filed an action in the Circuit Court primarily seeking the equitable remedy of an injunction for alleged violations of the Subdivision and Floodplain Management Ordinances ("Circuit Court Action"). (Rec. 88-91)

On June 27, 2007, Warren County filed a Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, to Transfer to the Circuit Court ("Motion"). (Rec. 36-39) In the Motion, Warren County admitted that the present action and its later-filed Circuit Court Action involved "similar subject matter." (Rec. 37) Warren County also openly acknowledged that its Circuit Court Action was filed five

1 -

days after the present action. (Rec. 112, 114)(TR 4, 7) Warren County further admitted: (1) that Issaquena and Warren seek equitable relief in the present action; (2) that the present action and the Circuit Court Action arise out of the same subject matter, *i.e.* "the enforcement or the violation of Warren County Subdivision and Flood Plain Management Ordinances . . ."; and, (3) that *the present action seeks an equitable remedy*. (TR 4) (emphasis added).

Without setting forth specific grounds for its decision, the Chancery Court granted Warren County's Motion to Transfer and ordered that this case be transferred to the Circuit Court by Order dated October 25, 2007. (Rec. Ex Tab 4) This Court granted Issaquena and Warren's Petition for Interlocutory Appeal on December 12, 2007 and, as such, this matter is now presented for this Court's review. (Rec. 117)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has long recognized the plaintiff's right to choose the forum in which his cause of action will be heard. *Era Franchise Systems, Inc. v. Mathis*, 931 So. 2d 1278, 1288 - 1289 (Miss. 2006); (citing *RE/Max Real Estate Partners v. Lindsley*, 840 So. 2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2003). In the present case, the Plaintiffs (appellants herein) filed an action seeking injunctive and declaratory relief in the Chancery Court of Warren County. By grant of Warren County's Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative to Transfer Action to Circuit Court, this action, which seeks no remedy at law whatsoever, has been ordered transferred to the Circuit Court of Warren County for adjudication.

There was no real dispute in the proceedings below as to whether or not the Chancery Court of Warren County had subject matter jurisdiction over the Complaint filed in the present action. Issaquena and Warren's prayer for injunctive relief alone was sufficient to establish chancery jurisdiction. Rather, Warren County successfully argued in the proceedings below that this case and a later-filed action in Circuit Court should be decided in a single action and that action could only go forward in the Circuit Court of Warren County. The Chancery Court erred in transferring the present action to the Circuit Court of Warren County for the following reasons.

First, the priority jurisdiction rule mandates that where, as here, there are two actions pending in courts of competent jurisdiction, involving the same parties and substantially the same subject matter, the first-filed action proceeds to the abatement of the later. There is no dispute that the present action was the first-filed action. A simple comparison of the Complaint filed in the present action with the complaint filed in the later Circuit Court Action reveals that: (1) the same parties named in the Circuit Court Action are also parties to the present suit; and (2) both actions seek injunctive relief regarding the enforcement of the same

Warren County land use ordinances. As such, application of the priority jurisdiction rule required that the entire controversy proceed in the first-filed action, *i.e.* the present action. Inasmuch as the chancery court has jurisdiction over Issaquena and Warren's claim for injunctive relief, as well as Warren County's claim for injunctive relief (in the Circuit Court Action), it can also exercise jurisdiction over any other pendant claim, whether equitable or legal in nature.

Second, Warren County's argument that Miss. R. Civ. P. 57 requires that any claim for declaratory relief necessitates a jury determination and, thus, can only be heard in circuit court, is without merit. This Court has repeatedly held that Rule 57 is jurisdictionally neutral. Likewise, the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provide that nothing set forth within them is intended to either expand or limit the jurisdiction of any state court. Warren County's interpretation would clearly limit the jurisdiction of chancery courts to grant declaratory relief regarding matters in equity.

Finally, Warren County's claim for damages in the Circuit Court action is utterly dependent upon and secondary to its equitable claims for declaratory and injunctive relief regarding the enforceability of the relevant land use ordinances. A realistic and pragmatic review of the complaint filed in the Circuit Court Action reveals that the only viable relief sought is equitable in nature. As such, the entire controversy should be determined by the Chancery Court of Warren County.

For the reasons set forth above, Issaquena and Warren respectfully request that this Court enter an Order reversing the ruling of the Chancery Court of Warren County and remanding to that Court for further proceedings on the merits.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This interlocutory appeal was granted for the purpose of determining whether or not the present case was correctly transferred to the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi from the Chancery Court of Warren County. Grant or denial of a motion to transfer is reviewed pursuant to the *de novo* standard of review. *Trustmark National Bank v. Johnson*, 865 So. 2d 1148, 1150 (Miss. 2004)(citing *Briggs & Stratton Corp. v. Smith*, 854 So. 2d 1045, 1048 (Miss. 2003); *Rogers v. Eaves*, 812 So. 2d 208, 211 (Miss. 2002)).

ARGUMENT

The Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative to Transfer to Circuit Court filed by Warren County did not attack the chancery court's subject matter jurisdiction over the Complaint filed by Issaquena and Warren. (Rec. 36-39) Indeed, Warren County admitted that "the relief that was sought by Issaquena and Warren's Complaint "sounds, at least partially, in equity." (TR 4) Warren County further acknowledged that "this suit seeks declaratory relief on the same subject matter as the Circuit Court case . . ." and that "judicial economy" required that *only one action was necessary and appropriate to resolve the dispute at the center of both actions*. (Rec. 38) Notwithstanding, Warren County argued that, due to its claim for damages raised in the Circuit Court Action and the declaratory relief requested in both actions, that one action should be the *later-filed* Circuit Court Action. (Rec. 38)

Warren County's argument, presumably accepted by the Chancery Court, is contrary to established Mississippi law with regard to the priority jurisdiction rule, this Court's interpretation of Miss. R. Civ. P. 57 and established precedent regarding the Chancery Court's jurisdiction over matters related to the enforcement of land use ordinances. As such, the order transferring this action to Circuit Court should be reversed.

Ĭ.

THE CHANCERY COURT HAS PRIORITY JURISDICTION

This Court has consistently held to the "well established rule . . . that where two (2) suits between the *same parties* over the *same controversy* are brought in courts of *concurrent jurisdiction*, the court which first acquires jurisdiction retains jurisdiction over the whole controversy to the exclusion or abatement of the second suit." *Scruggs, Millette, Bozeman & Dent, P.A.*, 804 So. 2d 1000, 1006 (Miss. 2001)(citing *Hancock v. Farm Bureau Ins. Co.*, 403 So. 2d 877 (Miss. 1981))(emphasis added). *See also, Huffman v. Griffin*, 337 So. 2d 715, 719 (Miss 1976)). This Court has further held that priority is "determined by the date the initial

pleading is filed." Scruggs, 804 So. 2d at 1006 (citing Euclid-Mississippi v. Western Cas. & Sur. Co., 163 So. 2d 676 (Miss. 1964); Shackelford v. New York Underwriters Ins. Co., 198 So. 31 (Miss. 1940). The rule stated succinctly provides:

It is *fundamental* that a plaintiff is *not authorized simply to ignore* a prior action and bring a second, independent action on the same state of facts while the original action is pending. Hence a second action based on the same cause will generally be abated where there is a prior action pending in a court of competent jurisdiction within the same state or jurisdictional territory, between the same parties, involving the same or substantially the same subject matter and cause of action, and in which prior action the rights of the parties may be determined and adjudged.

Harrison County Development Comm'n v. Daniels Real Estate, Inc., 880 So. 2d 272, 276 (Miss. 2004)(reversed on other grounds)(citing Lee v. Lee, 232 So. 2d 370, 373 (Miss. 1970))(emphasis added).

In light of the forgoing authorities, the Chancellor's order transferring this action to the Circuit Court of Warren County must be reversed if the following conditions are satisfied: (1) the Chancery Court can properly exercise jurisdiction over both cases; (2) both cases involve the same parties and (3) both cases involve substantially the same subject matter and cause of action. As all three conditions are clearly present, reversal is required.

A. The Chancery Court Can Properly Exercise Jurisdiction Over Both Actions.

1. Chancery Court has jurisdiction over Issaquena and Warrens' claims.

In the instant action, Issaquena and Warren's complaint *only* sought declaratory and injunctive relief in connection with land use ordinances. (Rec. 4-14, 21-31) More specifically, Issaquena and Warren's complaint requests the following relief in alternative form: (1)

Declaratory³ and Injunctive Relief that any relief sought by Respondents with regard to any alleged violation of the Subdivision and/or Flood Plain Management Ordinance is precluded based on the doctrines of *res judicata* and/or judicial estoppel; or (2) Declaratory and Injunctive Relief that the Subdivision and/or Flood Plain Management Ordinances are either not applicable or that the Petitioners have complied with such ordinances; or (3) Declaratory and Injunctive Relief that the Subdivision and/or Flood Plain Management Ordinances are invalid.

It is beyond question that the remedy of injunction is a "matter in equity" and, therefore, within the jurisdiction of the Chancery Court. It is well settled that "in our state, as a general rule, the equity of an injunction will be sufficient to draw the whole case into equity for a full determination of all features, although all other features be purely of law." *Jones v. Ackerman*, 403 So. 2d 1282, 1284 (Miss. 1981). In addition, the Court in *Leaf River Forest Products, Inc. v. Deakle*, 661 So. 2d 188, 193 (Miss. 1995) held that injunctive relief alone "is a subject over which the chancery court may assert jurisdiction." Further, where jurisdiction is attached in chancery court it may decide all legal and equitable remedies. *Id.* Moreover, "the chancery court may retain jurisdiction and make determinations typically made by a jury." *Id. See also, Cossit v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 551 So. 2d 879, 883 (Miss. 1989) *overruled on other grounds*.

Inasmuch as Issaquena and Warren seek the equitable remedy of injunction in the present action, the Chancery Court can properly assert subject matter jurisdiction over any other pendant claims raised in the action, even if those claims are legal in nature. Indeed, as Issaquena and

³ Warren County argued in the proceeding below that, by operation of Miss R. Civ. P. 57, any action for declaratory relief gives rise to the right to a jury and, thus, should be heard in Circuit Court. This argument is inconsistent with decisions of this Court determining that Rule 57 is "jurisdictionally neutral." *Burnette v. Hartford Underwriters Ins. Co.*, 770 So. 2d 948, 952 (Miss. 2000). This argument addresses in greater detail *infra*.

Warren have *only* raised equitable claims in the present action, there can be no doubt that the Chancery Court can properly assert jurisdiction over the present, first-filed action.

2. Chancery Court has concurrent jurisdiction over Warren County's claims.

In the proceedings below, Warren County argued that this action should be transferred to circuit court because Warren County alleged a claim for damages in the later-filed Circuit Court Action. In short, Warren County sought the dismissal or transfer of the present action on the basis of a claim it raised in a later-filed action before a different court, not because of any legal claims raised by Issaquena and Warren in the present action – a sort of priority jurisdiction in reverse. Issaquena and Warren has been unable to find any case wherein an earlier filed action was dismissed or transferred in favor of a later-filed where jurisdiction was clearly appropriate in the first-filed action. Certainly, Warren County cited no such authority in the proceedings below. Notwithstanding arguments to the contrary, the chancery court clearly had concurrent jurisdiction over the later-filed action because the fundamental substance of *that* claim is equitable.⁴

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