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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Although Issaquena in its brief attempts to cloud the issue with substantial extraneous matter. including arguments directed to the merits of the case, the only issue for resolution today is whether this dispute will be tried and decided in the chancery court or in the circuit court. Issaquena says that the Chancellor erred by transferring the Chancery Court Case to the circuit court. Because Issaquena filed its case first, Issaquena argues that the so-called "priority of jurisdiction" rule requires the case to proceed in chancery court. The "priority of jurisdiction" rule is a judicially created concept. According to the rule, the court where a case is filed first has priority jurisdiction over a subsequently filed case in another court of "concurrent jurisdiction" if the two cases are between "the same parties", seek "the same remedy" and "relate to the same question." Petition of Beggiani, 519 So.2d 1208, 1210 (Miss. 1998). In response, Warren County has argued that the "priority of jurisdiction" rule does not necessarily control in this case because Warren County seeks an additional remedy by way of damages in the Circuit Court Case. Further, Warren County argues that the "priority of jurisdiction" is not relevant here since Warren County is entitled to a jury under Rule 57 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, which specifically provides for a jury trial in suits for declaratory relief.

Thus, we believe that the "priority of jurisdiction" rule should not be determinative of this appeal. Rather, we believe that the chancellor correctly sent this case to the circuit court in order to facilitate Warren County's demand that the various claims for declaratory relief be determined by a jury pursuant to Rule 57. In addition, the chancellor's decision is supported by the obvious

conclusion that the circuit court is the more appropriate forum for determination of Warren County's claims at law for damages.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Both the complaint filed by Issaquena in the Chancery Court Case, as well as the complaint filed by Warren County in the Circuit Court Case, seek declaratory judgment relief relating to the same subject matter, i.e., applicability and enforceability of the subdivision ordinance to Issaquena's housing development. Rule 57 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure governs claims for declaratory relief:

(a) **Procedure**. Courts of record within their respective jurisdictions may declare rights, status, and other legal relations regardless of whether further relief is or could be claimed. The court may refuse to render or enter a declaratory judgment where such judgment, if entered, would not terminate the uncertainty or controversy giving rise to the proceeding.

The procedure for obtaining a declaratory judgment shall be in accordance with these rules, and the right to trial by jury may be demanded under the circumstances and in the manner provided in Rules 38 and 39. The existence of another adequate remedy does not preclude a judgment for declaratory relief in actions where it is appropriate.

The court may order a speedy hearing of an action for declaratory judgment and may advance it on the calendar. The judgment in a declaratory relief action may be either affirmative or negative in form and effect. Miss. R. Civ. P. 57

Warren County has insisted that it is entitled to have a jury determine the claims for

declaratory relief made by the parties in this controversy relating to Warren County's subdivision

ordinance. Since juries are not available in the chancery court, Warren County requested that the

claims for declaratory relief in the Chancery Court Case be transferred to the circuit court so that a

F:\JEANNIE\KBR\iwclc\supreme court brief.wpd

,

jury could consider same along with Warren County's claims pending there for declaratory relief and damages. Issaquena disagrees and claims that Warren County's right to a jury trial under Rule 57 must yield to the "priority of jurisdiction" rule enunciated by this Court in other cases. In essence, Issaquena says the right to a jury under Rule 57 does not apply to cases filed in Chancery Court. Stated differently, Issaquena says that because Issaquena won the race to the courthouse by filing first in Chancery Court, Warren County has lost its Rule 57 right to have a jury determine the various claims for declaratory relief pending in these cases. We have not been able to find any authority for Issaquena's position, nor has Issaquena cited us to any such authority.

In the first place, we have serious doubts that the "priority of jurisdiction" rule applies to these facts regardless of Rule 57. The "priority of jurisdiction" rule is not absolute. The Court in *Beggiani*, supra, stated that:

In order that the rule may be applicable which prevents interference by another court with the jurisdiction of the court first assuming it, the second action should be between the same parties, *seeking on the one hand, and opposing on the other, the same remedy, and should relate to the same question. Beggiani*, 519 So.2d at 1210 (Emphasis by the Court).

In the Circuit Court Case, Warren County is seeking not only a declaratory judgment, but also damages at law.¹ There is no claim for damages in the Chancery Court Case filed by Issaquena. Therefore, since Issaquena is not seeking the "same remedy" in the Chancery Court Case, the "priority of jurisdiction" rule does not apply. This case demonstrates one important reason that the rule requires remedies to be the same in both cases. Clearly, if only one of the cases seeks a remedy

ί

¹In its brief, Issaquena attempts to argue the merits of Warren County's claim for damages, suggesting that "Warren County's claim for damages is legally insufficient." (Isaaquena's brief, p. 23) Issaquena's various defenses (for example, res judicata) to the damage claim are irrelevant to the determination of whether those defenses will be ultimately considered in chancery or circuit.

for which the claimant is entitled to a jury trial, the "priority of jurisdiction" rule should not be applied to deprive the claimant of his right to a jury. Stated differently, if one of the cases asks for a different remedy, then the time of filing should not be a relevant factor in determining the more appropriate forum. Rather, the selection of the forum should be based on other considerations, such as which court is more appropriate to determine the particular relief being requested. According to *Beggiani*, supra, the time of filing is determinative only when all other factors or considerations are the same or equal.

If we are not constrained by the "priority of jurisdiction" rule, as the chancellor obviously concluded, then the only issue is whether or not this case is more appropriate for determination in the circuit court rather than the chancery court. Clearly there was ample basis for the chancellor to determine that this case was more appropriate for determination in the circuit court. If the "priority of jurisdiction" rule is not applicable because different remedies are sought, then certainly the chancellor was justified in concluding that the case should be in circuit court based on the fact that Warren County has a claim at law for damages. It is well established that claims at law for damages are more appropriate for determination under the general jurisdiction of the circuit court. *Union National Life Ins. v. Crosby*, 870 So.2d 1175, 1182 (Miss. 2004)

Assuming, *arguendo*, that the "priority of jurisdiction" rule does apply here, despite the additional remedies sought in the Circuit Court Case, then the issue for determination is whether, in a declaratory judgment action, the "priority of jurisdiction" rule defeats Warren County's right to a trial by jury afforded by Rule 57. We think this Court has answered this question in another Rule 57 case:

4

Finally, Anders suggests, if we understand him correctly, that his prayer for declaratory judgment makes his suit cognizable in chancery. The short answer is that our law's authorization of the declaratory judgment procedure in Rule 57, Miss. R. Civ. P., is jurisdictionally neutral. Rule 57 empowers the trial court to grant a procedural remedy not thought available in our practice prior to January 1, 1982. That new remedy may be sought only in a court of otherwise competent jurisdiction. Indeed, nothing in the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure may be construed to extend or limit the subject matter jurisdiction of our trial courts. Rule 82(a), Miss. R. Civ. P. There is good reason why we ought heed the Newspaper's arguments, and do so interlocutorily. The Newspaper has demanded its right to trial by jury. If this action is allowed to remain in chancery court, there will be no trial by jury, this notwithstanding the command of our constitution that "the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate" (citations omitted). Tillotson v. Anders, 551 So.2d 212, 214 (Miss. 1989) (emphasis added)

Just as the newspaper had the right to have the plaintiffs' claims for declaratory relief tried to a jury in the *Tillotson* case, supra, the chancellor correctly found that Warren County has a similar right in this case.

In its brief, Issaquena glosses over the pivotal issue on this appeal. Issaquena is unable to enunciate a plausible argument to circumvent the very plain language of Rule 57 that dictates a jury trial on claims for declaratory relief when requested by a party. Instead, Issaquena seems to say only that Warren County is not entitled to a jury under Rule 57 because Rule 57 is "jurisdictionally neutral". (See Issaquena's brief, p. 20) Frankly, we are having difficulty following this argument. The fact that Rule 57 is "jurisdictionally neutral" has nothing to do with whether or not a party in a declaratory judgment case is entitled to demand a jury. It appears that the "jurisdictionally neutral" terminology originated with Justice Robertson's opinion in *Tillotson*, supra. As discussed above, in *Tillotson*, the plaintiff wanted his case to proceed in chancery court. He argued that his "prayer for declaratory judgment makes his suit cognizable in chancery." *Id.* This Court disagreed and held,

in essence, that a claim for declaratory relief does not create subject matter jurisdiction. Rather, a claim for declaratory judgment is "jurisdictionally neutral" and may be sought "only in a court of otherwise competent jurisdiction". *Id.* As discussed above, the Court in *Tillotson* then proceeded to transfer the case to circuit court where the defendant could have its requested jury trial. Based on the foregoing, we are unable to understand Issaquena's argument that the "jurisdictionally neutral" nature of Rule 57 somehow prevents Warren County from having the claims for declaratory relief tried to a jury in circuit court. Contrarily, the fact that Rule 57 is "jurisdictionally neutral" seems to support our contention that claims for declaratory relief in the Chancery Court Case can be transferred to circuit court which, as a court of general jurisdiction, plainly has subject matter jurisdiction of the claims in the Chancery Court Case.²

Since Issaquena is unable to provide any persuasive authority for its contention that Rule 57 does not mean what it says regarding right to a jury trial, Issaquena is forced to rely exclusively on the "priority of jurisdiction" rule to avoid the transfer of this case from chancery to circuit court. However, it seems absurd to suggest that Warren County's clear right to a jury under Rule 57 should be lost simply because Issaquena was able to file its lawsuit in chancery court six days before Warren County put its complaint on file. We understand the common sense basis for the "priority of jurisdiction" rule. However, the rationale of the rule is not relevant here and it does not make common sense for the rule to be applied under these facts. There is clearly no policy reason or legal

i,

²Issaquena has not argued that the circuit court does not have subject matter jurisdiction of the claims in the Chancery Court Case. Rather, Issaquena has relied upon the "priority of jurisdiction" rule which is necessarily applicable only in cases where both courts have "concurrent jurisdiction." *Beggiani*, 519 So.2d at 1210.

reason to conclude that Warren County has lost its right to a jury trial on these facts by virtue of the

application thereto of the "priority of jurisdiction" rule.

In Burnette v. Hartford Underwriters, Inc., 770 So.2d 948 (Miss. 2000), the Court held that

the right to a jury trial would determine the place the action would be heard.

We find that the present case is legal in nature. However, even if some doubt existed in this regard, that doubt would be resolved in favor of the Burnettes' position. Article 3, § 31 of the Mississippi Constitution provides that the "right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate." Clearly the Burnettes' right to a jury trial would be infringed upon if this case were heard in chancery court. In "[c]hancery court, with some few statutory exceptions, the right to jury is purely within the discretion of the chancellor, and if one is empaneled, its findings are totally advisory." (citations omitted) This case must be transferred to circuit court so that the Burnettes' right to a jury trial will be effectively honored. *Id.* at 952.

Since Warren County is plainly entitled to have its claim for declaratory relief under Rule 57 and its claim for damages at law tried to a jury, the fact that this case was filed six days before the Circuit Court Case is of no consequence and the "priority of jurisdiction" rule is not relevant. Rather, it is Rule 57 and Warren County's right to a jury trial that control the forum for resolution of this dispute.

Issaquena's arguments founded on the "priority of jurisdiction" rule constitute nothing more than a "smoke and mirrors" strategy to obscure the real issue on this interlocutory appeal. For the purpose of defining and summarizing the very narrow issue here, we invite the Court to consider a slightly different scenario than the facts at bar. Specifically, we think the following hypothetical may be helpful in addressing the singular issue for determination today. Assume that the Circuit Court Case had not been filed. It certainly would not have been filed if the attorneys representing Warren County had known that the Chancery Court Case had already been filed by Issaguena. Assume

further that, in the absence of the Circuit Court Case, Warren County filed a motion under Rule 57 in the Chancery Court Case requesting that the case be transferred to circuit court so that Warren County could have a jury determine the declaratory relief prayed for by Issaquena in its complaint in the Chancery Court Case. Assume that the chancellor transferred Issaquena's complaint for declaratory relief to the circuit court on the basis that Rule 57 plainly affords Warren County a jury trial on such issues. Would the chancellor have been in error under this hypothetical fact scenario? Clearly, based on the precise and unequivocal wording of Rule 57, the transfer of the case into circuit court in our hypothetical situation would not be error.

Contrarily, we think it would have been glaring error for the chancellor in our hypothetical to deny the motion to transfer and to retain the case in chancery, thereby denying Warren County its Rule 57 right to a trial by jury on Issaquena's complaint for declaratory relief. If Warren County would have been entitled to have the Chancery Court Case transferred to circuit court in the above hypothetical as Rule 57 clearly mandates, then we cannot comprehend how that right should be lost simply because Warren County subsequently and unknowingly filed a similar case in the circuit court. We think this hypothetical makes clear that the "priority of jurisdiction" rule has no relevance to the issue before the Court.

CONCLUSION

The Chancery Court Case should be transferred to circuit court because Rule 57 mandates the transfer. The fact that there is already pending in circuit court a similar subsequently filed case is of no consequence. Clearly, Issaquena has deftly asserted the "priority of jurisdiction" arguments in this case in the hope that the chancellor, and now this Court, will lose sight of the real issue, that being whether Warren County has an absolute right to have claims for declaratory relief tried by a

F:VEANNIE\KBR\iwclc\supreme court brief.wpd

i.

i

ť

į

jury. The chancellor was not distracted or misled by Issaquena's "priority of jurisdiction" arguments and clearly found that Warren County was entitled to have the claims for declaratory relief tried to a jury in circuit court pursuant to Rule 57. The chancellor also clearly concluded that Issaquena cannot defeat Warren County's entitlement to a jury under Rule 57 simply by choosing to bring its claims for declaratory relief in chancery court. Based on the express language of Rule 57, the chancellor could make no other decision other than to honor Warren County's request for a jury and transfer the case to circuit court. Clearly, that decision should be affirmed.